







Child Protection Policy

Contents	
Flowchart of Actions – from KCSIE. These actions should be followed for all concerns	3
including those deemed as 'low-level'.	
The Legal Framework	5
Aims of the Policy	5
<u>Definitions</u>	6
Equality Statement	7
Safe School, Safe Children, Safe Staff	7
Staff Responsibilities	8
The Role Of The Designated Safeguarding Lead	9
Responsibilities of the Governing Board	10
Confidentiality	11
Procedures and Making A Referral	12
<u>Contextual Safeguarding</u>	13
Types of Abuse and Neglect	13
<u>Child on Child Abuse</u>	14
Honour Based Violence	15
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)	17
Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) – County Lines	18
Preventing Radicalisation	18
Sexual Violence	22
A Child Missing In Education (CME)	22
<u>Domestic Abuse</u>	23
<u>Transferring Information Between Schools</u>	23
Pupils with Special Educational Needs	23
If There Is A Concern About A Child's Mental Health	23
Early Help Assessment	24
Internet Safety – Monitoring and Filtering	25
Photography of Pupils	25
Safer Recruitment	26

<u>Visitors to School</u>	26
Staff Responsibilities	26
Supporting Staff	27
Allegations Against Staff	28
Whistle Blowing Policy	29
Physical Intervention	30
Anti-Bullying including Cyberbullying	30
Racist Incidents	30
Prevention	30
Health and Safety	31
Monitoring and Evaluation	31
Appendix 1 – Information and Sources of Support	32

The safety and welfare of children is everyone's responsibility. As such, **anyone** may make a referral to social care. Please speak to a Deputy Safeguarding Lead (DSL) if they are available before making the referral. If you are concerned that a child is in immediate danger, call the police on 999 If you believe or suspect a child has suffered significant harm and/or is likely to suffer significant harm contact MASH on 01452 426565 (Mon to Fri 9am to 5pm) or the Emergency Duty Team on 01452 614194.

Who can I talk to at school?	
Designated Safeguarding Lead	Headteacher – Nicky Morris
Deputy Designated Safeguarding Lead (Pre-School)	Pre-School Manager – Linda Bennett
Deputy Designated Safeguarding Lead (After School	ASC lead – Marie Skelton
Club)	
Deputy Safeguarding Lead	SENCO – Hazel Everett
Deputy Safeguarding Lead	Deputy Head – Rebecca Bilton

During school closure please follow Benhall's usual child protection arrangements. If any of the safeguarding leads are not in school, they can be contacted at home on their email address (staff can contact on mobile numbers):

head@benhall.gloucs.sch.uk

rebeccabilton@benhall.gloucs.sch.uk

senco@benhall.gloucs.sch.uk

For professional advice: Children's Practitioner Advice Line 01452 426565 (Option 3)

Cheltenham Community Social Worker 01452 328246

Flowchart of Actions – from KCSIE. These actions should be followed for all concerns including those deemed as 'low-level'.

Actions where there are concerns about a child School/college action Staff have concerns about child and take immediate action. Staff follow their child protection policy and speak to designated safeguarding lead Other agency action Referral not required. Referral Designated school/college takes safeguarding lead or staff make referral³ relevant action, concerns possibly including escalate to children's social care (and call police pastoral support if appropriate) and/or early help2 and monitors locally Within 1 working day, social worker makes decision about the type of response that is required Section 174 Child in need Section 474 No formal of immediate enquiries enquiries assessment appropriate: referrer appropriate: required: referrer protection: referrer referrer informed informed informed School/college Identify child Appropriate Identify child considers pastoral emergency at risk of in need4 and identify appropriate support and/or early significant help assessment² by social harm4: rker, police accessing universal possible child support services and other or NSPCC⁵ protection plan support Staff should do everything they can to support social workers. At all stages, staff should keep the child's circumstances under review (involving the designated safeguarding lead (or deputies) as required), and re-refer if appropriate, to ensure the child's circumstances improve - the child's best interests must always come first

Benhall recognises its explicit duty to safeguard and protect children from harm. The overall intention behind Benhall's Child Protection Policy is underpinned by the fundamental principle of the Children Act 1989:

'The welfare of the child is paramount'. 'There can be no issue of greater importance to parents and carers, or to schools, than the safety of their children.'

Safeguarding in schools: best practice - Ofsted Published September 2011

This policy has been developed in accordance with the principles established by the Children Acts 1989 and 2004; the Education Act 2002, and in line with government publications, specifically: 'Working Together to Safeguard Children' September 2018, updated July 2022, and 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' September 2023. (KCSIE).

The Governing body takes seriously its responsibility under section 175 of the Education Act 2002 to safeguard and promote the welfare of children; and to work together with other agencies to ensure adequate arrangements within our school to identify, assess, and support those children who are suffering harm. In addition, the governing body is aware of its obligations under the Human Rights Act 1998 21, the Equality Act 2010, the Public Sector Equality Duty and local multiagency safeguarding arrangements.

We recognise that all adults, including temporary staff, volunteers and Governors, have a full and active part to play in protecting our pupils from harm, and that the child's welfare is our paramount concern. Staff must not assume that someone else is taking action and sharing information that might safeguard a child. All staff believe that Benhall should provide a caring, positive safe and stimulating environment that promotes the social, physical and moral development of the individual child.

Benhall plays a crucial role in preventative education. This is in the context of a whole-school approach to preparing pupils for life in modern Britain, and a culture of zero tolerance of sexism, misogyny/misandry, homophobia, biphobia, transphobia and sexual violence/harassment. This will be underpinned by our:

- Behaviour policy
- Pastoral support system
- Planned programme of relationships, sex and health education (RSHE), which is inclusive and delivered regularly, tackling issues such as:
 - o Healthy and respectful relationships
 - o Boundaries and consent
 - Stereotyping, prejudice and equality
 - o Body confidence and self-esteem
 - How to recognise an abusive relationship (including coercive and controlling behaviour)
 - The concepts of, and laws relating to, sexual consent, sexual exploitation, abuse, grooming, coercion, harassment, rape, domestic abuse, so-called honour-based violence such as forced marriage and FGM and how to access support
 - What constitutes sexual harassment and sexual violence and why they're always unacceptable

The legal Framework

This policy has consideration for, and is compliant with, the following legislation and statutory guidance:

Legislation

- The Children Act 1989 and 2004 amendment
- The Education Act 2002
- The Education (Health Standards) (England) Regulations 2003
- The Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006
- School Staffing (England) Regulations 2009 (As amended)
- The Serious Crime Act 2015 (Section 5B,11 of the FGM Act 2003)
- The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974
- The Equality Act 2010
- The Human Rights Act 1998
- The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012
- The Education (School Teachers' Appraisal) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended)
- The Children and Families Act 2014
- The Sexual Offences Act 2003
- Childcare (Disqualification) and Childcare (Early Years Provision Free of Charge)
 (Extended Entitlement) (Amendment) Regulations 2018
- The Education (Pupil Registration) (England) Regulations 2006 (as amended)
- Voyeurism (Offences) Act 2019

Statutory Guidance

- HM Government (2014) 'Multi-agency practice guidelines: Handling cases of Forced Marriage'
- DfE (2015) 'What to do if you're worried a child is being abused'
- (2016) 'Multi-agency guidance on Female Genital Mutilation'
- DfE (2015) 'Information sharing'
- DfE (2015) 'The Prevent duty'
- DfE (2017) 'Child sexual exploitation'
- DfE (2021) 'Sexual violence and sexual harassment between children in schools and colleges' • DfE (2018) 'Working together to safeguard children'
- DfE (2023) 'Keeping children safe in education'

Aims of the Policy

- 1. To support the child's development in ways that will foster security, confidence and independence.
- 2. To provide an environment in which children and young people feel safe, secure, valued and respected. They feel confident and know how to approach adults if they are in difficulties, believing they will be effectively listened to.
- 3. To raise the awareness of all teaching and non-teaching staff and volunteers of the need to safeguard children. To inform all staff of their responsibilities in identifying and reporting possible cases of abuse and to comply with the requirements of Keeping Children Safe in Education and this policy.

- 4. To provide a systematic means of monitoring children known or thought to be at risk of harm, and ensure we, Benhall, contribute to assessments of need and support packages for those children.
- 5. To develop and promote effective working relationships with other agencies, especially the Police and Social Care.
- 6. To ensure Benhall's IT systems enable a correct level of filtering and monitoring, that all children are taught about internet safety and parents are supported with information to keep children safe online at home.
- 7. To develop a structured procedure within Benhall that can be followed by all members of Benhall community in cases of suspected abuse and to signpost further information where necessary.
- 8. To ensure clear records are kept of any safeguarding concerns and actions, including any early intervention for concerns which do not meet the harm threshold.
- 9. To ensure pupil safeguarding data is transferred within 5 days of a child moving to a new educational setting or within 5 days of the start of a new term.
- 10. To ensure that all staff working within our school have been checked as to their suitability, including verification of their identity, qualifications, a satisfactory criminal records check (according to guidance), and where appropriate a check of their online identity.
- 11. To ensure a single central record for all staff checks is kept as a live document and available for audit.
- 12. To carry out a risk assessment for volunteers to ensure the appropriate level of checks are carried out.
- 13. To ensure that external providers using Benhall's facilities adhere to Benhall's safeguarding procedures.

Definitions

Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children means:

- Protecting children from maltreatment
- Preventing impairment of children's mental and physical health or development
- Ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe and effective care
- Taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes

Child protection is part of this definition and refers to activities undertaken to prevent children suffering, or being likely to suffer, significant harm.

Abuse is a form of maltreatment of a child, and may involve inflicting harm or failing to act to prevent harm. (Appendix 1 explains the different types of abuse.)

Neglect is a form of abuse and is the persistent failure to meet a child's basic physical and/or psychological needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the child's health or development. (Appendix 1 defines neglect in more detail.)

Sharing of nudes and semi-nudes (also known as sexting or youth-produced sexual imagery) is where children share nude or semi-nude images, videos or live streams.

Children includes everyone under the age of 18.

The following 3 **safeguarding partners** are identified in Keeping Children Safe in Education (and defined in the Children Act 2004, as amended by chapter 2 of the Children and Social

Work Act 2017). They will make arrangements to work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of local children, including identifying and responding to their needs:

- The local authority (LA)
- Integrated care boards (previously known as clinical commissioning groups) for an area within the LA
- The chief officer of police for a police area in the LA area

Victim is a widely understood and recognised term, but we understand that not everyone who has been subjected to abuse considers themselves a victim, or would want to be described that way. When managing an incident, we will be prepared to use any term that the child involved feels most comfortable with.

Alleged perpetrator(s) and perpetrator(s) are widely used and recognised terms. However, we will think carefully about what terminology we use (especially in front of children) as, in some cases, abusive behaviour can be harmful to the perpetrator too. We will decide what's appropriate and which terms to use on a case-by-case basis.

LADO is the Local Authority Designated Officer for allegations against staff.

Equality Statement

Some children have an increased risk of abuse, both online and offline, and additional barriers can exist for some children with respect to recognising or disclosing it. We are committed to anti-discriminatory practice and recognise the children's and their family's diverse circumstances. We ensure that all children have the same protection, regardless of any barriers they may face.

We give special consideration to children who:

- Have special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND) or health conditions (see section 10)
- Are young carers
- May experience discrimination due to their race, ethnicity, religion, gender identification or sexuality
- Have English as an additional language
- Are known to be living in difficult situations for example, temporary accommodation or where there are issues such as substance abuse or domestic violence
- Are at risk of FGM, sexual exploitation, forced marriage, or radicalisation
- Are asylum seekers
- Are at risk due to either their own or a family member's mental health needs
- Are looked after or previously looked after (see section 12)
- Are missing or absent from education for prolonged periods and/or repeat occasions
- Whose parent/carer has expressed an intention to remove them from school to be home educated

Safe School, Safe Children, Safe Staff

At Benhall, we encourage a culture of listening to children and taking account of their wishes and feelings and put in place procedures to protect them. We will ensure that all members of the governing body understand and fulfil their responsibilities, namely to ensure that:

- 1. There is a Child Protection policy together with a staff code of conduct (behaviour) policy.
- 2. Benhall operates safer recruitment procedures by ensuring that there is at least one person on every recruitment panel that has completed Safer Recruitment training.
- 3. Inform short-listed candidates that online recruitment checks may be carried out.
- 4. Benhall has procedures for dealing with allegations of abuse against staff and volunteers and to make a referral to the DBS if a person in regulated activity has been dismissed or removed due to safeguarding concerns, or would have had they not resigned.
- 5. A senior leader has Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) responsibility.
- 6. Benhall will aim to ensure the DSL or DDSL is always available. Should this not be the case, the DSL or DDSL at St Marks Junior School should be contacted for advice.
- 7. On appointment, the DSLs undertake interagency training and also undertake DSL 'new to role' and an 'update' course every 2 years.
- 8. All other staff have Safeguarding training updated at least every 3 years, on induction and through frequent updates from the DSL including at least an annual update.
- 9. Governors members and trustees, receive appropriate safeguarding and child protection training at induction.
- 10. A member of the Governing Body is nominated to liaise with the LA on Child Protection issues and in the event of an allegation of abuse made against the Headteacher.
- 11. Child Protection policies and procedures are reviewed annually and that the Child Protection policy is available on Benhall website and by other means.
- 12. The Governing Body considers how children may be taught about safeguarding. This may be part of a broad and balanced curriculum covering relevant issues through personal, social, health and education (PSHE) and through relationship and sex education (RSE).
- 13. Preventative education prepares pupils for life in modern Britain and creates a culture of zero tolerance for sexism, misogyny/misandry, homophobia, biphobic and sexual violence/harassment and this is supported by Benhall's behaviour policy.
- 14. All members of staff and volunteers are provided with child protection awareness information at induction, including in their arrival pack, Benhall safeguarding statement so that they know who to discuss a concern with.
- 15. All parents/carers are made aware of the responsibilities of staff members with regard to child protection procedures through publication of Benhall's Child Protection Policy.
- 16. Community users organising activities for children on Benhall site are aware of, and required to follow, Benhall's child protection guidelines and procedures.
- 17. We will ensure that child protection type concerns or allegations against adults working in Benhall are referred to the LADO for advice, and that any member of staff found not suitable to work with children will be notified to the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) for consideration for barring, following resignation, dismissal, or when we cease to use their service as a result of a substantiated allegation, in the case of a volunteer.
- 18. Children will be supported in accordance with their child in need (CIN) or child protection plan (CPP).

Staff Responsibilities

All staff will:

• Read and understand part 1 and annex B of the Department for Education's statutory safeguarding guidance, Keeping Children Safe in Education, and review this guidance at least annually.

- Sign a declaration at the beginning of each academic year to say that they have reviewed and understood the guidance.
- Reinforce the importance of online safety when communicating with parents and carers.
 This includes making parents and carers aware of what we ask children to do online (e.g. sites they need to visit or who they'll be interacting with online). Refer to Acceptable Use Policies.
- Provide a safe space for pupils who are LGBTQ+ to speak out and share their concerns.

All staff will be aware of:

- Our systems which support safeguarding, including this child protection policy, the staff code of conduct, the role and identity of the designated safeguarding lead (DSL) and deputies, the behaviour policy, the online safety policy, including the expectations, applicable roles and responsibilities in relation to filtering and monitoring, and the safeguarding response to children who go missing from, or are absent from, education.
- The early help assessment process (sometimes known as the common assessment framework) and their role in it, including identifying emerging problems, liaising with the DSL, and sharing information with other professionals to support early identification and assessment.
- The process for making referrals to local authority children's social care and for statutory assessments that may follow a referral, including the role they might be expected to play. What to do if they identify a safeguarding issue or a child tells them they are being abused or neglected, including specific issues such as FGM, and how to maintain an appropriate level of confidentiality while liaising with relevant professionals.
- The signs of different types of abuse and neglect, as well as specific safeguarding issues, such as child-on-child abuse, child sexual exploitation (CSE), child criminal exploitation (CCE), indicators of being at risk from or involved with serious violent crime, FGM, radicalisation and serious violence (including that linked to county lines).
- The importance of reassuring victims that they are being taken seriously and that they will be supported and kept safe.
- The fact that children can be at risk of harm inside and outside of their home, at school and online.
- The fact that children who are (or who are perceived to be) lesbian, gay, bi or trans (LGBTQ+) can be targeted by other children.
- What to look for to identify children who need help or protection.

The Role of the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL)

The DSL is a member of the senior leadership team. Our DSL is the Headteacher, Nicky Morris. The DSL takes lead responsibility for child protection and wider safeguarding in Benhall. This includes online safety, and understanding our filtering and monitoring processes on school devices and school networks to keep pupils safe online.

During term time, the DSL will be available during school hours for staff to discuss any safeguarding concerns. Out of school hours the DSL should still be contacted if there is a safeguarding concern. Contact details can be found on the front page of this policy. When the DSL is absent, the deputy DSLs will act as cover: Rebecca Bilton (Deputy Head) and Hazel Everett (SENCO). If the DSL and deputies are not available, Angharad Fitch (Headteacher and DSL at St Marks Junior School) will act as cover.

The DSL will be given the time, funding, training, resources and support to:

- Provide advice and support to other staff on child welfare and child protection matters.
- Take part in strategy discussions and inter-agency meetings and/or support other staff to do so.
- Contribute to the assessment of children.
- Refer suspected cases, as appropriate, to the relevant body (local authority children's social care, Channel programme, Disclosure and Barring Service, and/or police), and support staff who make such referrals directly.
- Have a good understanding of harmful sexual behaviour.
- Have a good understanding of the filtering and monitoring systems and processes in place at our school.

The DSL/DDSLs will also:

- Keep the headteacher informed of any issues.
- Liaise with local authority case managers and designated officers for child protection concerns as appropriate.
- Discuss the local response to sexual violence and sexual harassment with police and local authority children's social care colleagues to prepare Benhall's policies.
- Be confident that they know what local specialist support is available to support all children involved (including victims and alleged perpetrators) in sexual violence and sexual harassment, and be confident as to how to access this support.
- Be aware that children must have an 'appropriate adult' to support and help them in the case of a police investigation or search.

The full responsibilities of the DSL and DDSLs are set out in their job description.

Responsibilities of the Governing Board

The governing board will:

- Facilitate a whole-school approach to safeguarding, ensuring that safeguarding and child protection are at the forefront of, and underpin, all relevant aspects of process and policy development.
- Evaluate and approve this policy at each review, ensuring it complies with the law, and hold the headteacher to account for its implementation.
- Be aware of its obligations under the Human Rights Act 1998, the Equality Act 2010 (including the Public Sector Equality Duty), and our school's local multi-agency safeguarding arrangements.
- Appoint a governor (currently Clare Whitcomb) to monitor the effectiveness of this policy in conjunction with the full governing board.
- Ensure all staff and governors undergo safeguarding and child protection training, including online safety, and that such training is regularly updated and is in line with advice from the safeguarding partners.
- Ensure that Benhall has appropriate filtering and monitoring systems in place, and review their effectiveness. This includes:
 - Making sure that the leadership team and staff are aware of the provisions in place, and that they understand their expectations, roles and responsibilities around filtering and monitoring as part of safeguarding training.

- Reviewing the <u>DfE's filtering and monitoring standards</u>, and discussing with IT staff and service providers what needs to be done to support Benhall in meeting these standards.
- Benhall has procedures to manage any safeguarding concerns (no matter how small) or allegations that do not meet the harm threshold (low-level concerns) about staff members (including supply staff, volunteers and contractors).
- That this policy reflects that children with SEND, or certain medical or physical health conditions, can face additional barriers to any abuse or neglect being recognised.

The Governing Board will make sure:

- The DSL has the appropriate status and authority to carry out their job, including additional time, funding, training, resources and support.
- Online safety is a running and interrelated theme within the whole-school approach to safeguarding and related policies.
- The DSL has lead authority for safeguarding, including online safety and understanding the filtering and monitoring systems and processes in place.

Where another body is providing services or activities (regardless of whether or not the children who attend these services/activities are children on Benhall roll):

- Seek assurance that the other body has appropriate safeguarding and child protection policies/procedures in place, and inspect them if needed.
- Make sure there are arrangements for the body to liaise with Benhall about safeguarding arrangements, where appropriate.
- Make sure that safeguarding requirements are a condition of using Benhall premises, and that any agreement to use the premises would be terminated if the other body fails to comply.

The chair of governors will act as the 'case manager' in the event that an allegation of abuse is made against the headteacher, where appropriate.

Confidentiality

Confidentiality and data protection are critical with respect to safeguarding. Please see Benhall's policies regarding these arrangements.

Note that:

- Timely information sharing is essential to effective safeguarding.
- Fears about sharing information must not be allowed to stand in the way of the need to promote the welfare, and protect the safety, of children.
- The Data Protection Act (DPA) 2018 and UK GDPR do not prevent, or limit, the sharing of information for the purposes of keeping children safe. If staff need to share 'special category personal data', the DPA 2018 contains 'safeguarding of children and individuals at risk' as a processing condition that allows practitioners to share information without consent if: it is not possible to gain consent; it cannot be reasonably expected that a practitioner gains consent; or if to gain consent would place a child at risk.
- Staff should never promise a child that they will not tell anyone about a report of abuse, as this may not be in the child's best interests.

- If a victim asks Benhall not to tell anyone about the sexual violence or sexual harassment:
 - There's no definitive answer, because even if a victim doesn't consent to sharing information, staff may still lawfully share it if there's another legal basis under the UK GDPR that applies.
 - The DSL will have to balance the victim's wishes against their duty to protect the victim and other children.
 - o The DSL should consider that:
 - Parents or carers should normally be informed (unless this would put the victim at greater risk).
 - The basic safeguarding principle is: if a child is at risk of harm, is in immediate danger, or has been harmed, a referral should be made to local authority children's social care.
 - Rape, assault by penetration and sexual assault are crimes. Where a report of rape, assault by penetration or sexual assault is made, this should be referred to the police. While the age of criminal responsibility is 10, if the alleged perpetrator is under 10, the starting principle of referring to the police remains.
- Regarding anonymity, all staff will:
 - Be aware of anonymity, witness support and the criminal process in general where an allegation of sexual violence or sexual harassment is progressing through the criminal justice system.
 - Do all they reasonably can to protect the anonymity of any children involved in any report of sexual violence or sexual harassment, for example, carefully considering which staff should know about the report, and any support for children involved.
 - Consider the potential impact of social media in facilitating the spreading of rumours and exposing victims' identities.
- The government's information sharing advice for safeguarding practitioners includes 7
 (golden rules' for sharing information, and will support staff who have to make decisions
 about sharing information
- If staff are in any doubt about sharing information, they should speak to the DSL (or one of the DDSLs)

Procedures and Making a Referral

It is the responsibility of all staff to protect children by reporting any concerns they may have with regard to child protection either to the DSL, DDSL or directly to the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub at the local authority (MASH). Anyone can make a referral to MASH.

Where there is concern that a child is at immediate risk of harm, or is already suffering from harm, **immediate action** will be taken by contacting MASH or the police.

It is usual that children who are being abused will only tell people they trust and with whom they feel safe. In the event of a child making a disclosure, the staff member should:

- 1. Stay calm and reassure the child that they have done the right thing and that they are not to blame.
- 2. Listen to what the child says and explain they will have to tell other people in order to keep them safe.

- 3. Ensure they are quite clear about what the child says but keep questions to a minimum. Encourage the child to use their own words. (The law is very strict and a child abuse case can be dismissed if it appears the child has been led or words have been suggested).
- 4. Record exactly what the child has said by completing an incident record on CPOMS as soon possible after the disclosure. Record facts and comments from the child not opinions. All records must be dated (and signed if on paper) and should follow in a clear chronological order.
- 5. Report the incident immediately to the DSL/DDSL and alert via CPOMS or pass the report on to them.
- 6. Maintain confidentiality. It is extremely important that allegations are not discussed with others until guidance is sought from the DSL/DDSL.
- 7. Follow up with your DSL/DDSL (or Social Care) if you haven't had feedback about what actions have been taken.
- 8. If a child says or indicates that they are being abused or information is obtained which gives concern that a child is being abused, **immediate action must be taken**.

Contextual Safeguarding

Contextual Safeguarding is an approach to understanding, and responding to, young people's experiences of significant harm beyond their families. It recognises that the different relationships that young people form in their neighbourhoods, schools and online can feature violence and abuse. Contextual safeguarding expands the objectives of child protection systems in recognition that young people are vulnerable to abuse in a range of social contexts.

Types of Abuse and Neglect

Abuse: A form of maltreatment of a child which involves inflicting harm of failing to act to prevent harm. Children may be abused in a family, institutional or community setting by those known to them, or, more rarely, by others, e.g. via the internet.

Physical abuse: A form of abuse which may involve actions such as hitting, throwing, burning, drowning and poisoning, or otherwise causing physical harm to a child. Physical abuse can also be caused when a parent/carer fabricates the symptoms of, or deliberately induces, illness in a child.

Emotional abuse: A form of abuse which involves the emotional maltreatment of a child such as to cause severe and adverse effects on the child's emotional development. This may involve telling a child they are worthless, unloved, inadequate, not giving them the opportunities to express their views, deliberately silencing them, or often making them feel as though they are in danger.

Sexual abuse: A form of abuse which involves forcing or enticing a child to take part in sexual activities, not necessarily involving a high level of violence, and whether or not the child is aware of what is happening. This may involve penetrative assault, such as touching, or non-penetrative actions, such as looking at sexual images or encouraging children to behave in inappropriate ways.

Neglect: A form of abuse which involves the persistent failure to meet a child's basic physical and/or psychological needs, likely to result in serious impairment of a child's health or development. This may involve providing inadequate food, clothing or shelter, or the inability to

protect a child from physical or emotional harm, or ensure access to appropriate medical treatment.

We recognise that children who are abused or witness violence may find it difficult to develop a sense of self-worth. They may feel helplessness, humiliation and some sense of blame. Benhall Infant and Pre-School may be the only stable, secure and predictable element in the lives of children at risk. When at school their behaviour may be challenging and defiant or they may be withdrawn. Benhall will endeavour to support the pupil through:

- The content of the curriculum.
- Benhall ethos which promotes a positive, supportive and secure environment and gives pupils a sense of being valued.
- Benhall behaviour policy which is aimed at supporting vulnerable pupils in Benhall. Benhall
 will ensure that the pupil knows that some behaviour is unacceptable but they are valued
 and not to be blamed for any abuse which has occurred.
- Liaison with other agencies that support the pupil such as social care, Child and Adult Mental Health Service, education welfare service and educational psychology service.
- Ensuring that, where a pupil who has a child protection plan leaves, their information is transferred to the new school immediately and that the child's social worker is informed.

Child on Child Abuse

Education settings are an important part of the inter-agency framework not only in terms of evaluating and referring concerns to Children's Services and the Police, but also in the assessment and management of risk that the child or young person may pose to themselves and others in the education setting.

If one child or young person causes harm to another, this should not necessarily be dealt with as abuse and should first be considered under Benhall's policies for behaviour and anti-bullying. When considering whether behaviour is abusive, it is important to consider:

- Whether there is a large difference in power (for example age, size, ability, development) between the young people concerned; or
- whether the perpetrator has repeatedly tried to harm one or more other children; or
- whether there are concerns about the intention of the alleged perpetrator.

Child on child abuse can manifest itself in many ways and different gender issues can be prevalent. Severe harm may be caused to children by abusive and bullying behaviour of other children, which may be physical, sexual or emotional and can include gender based violence / sexual assaults, consensual or non-consensual sharing of nudes/semi-nudes images and/or videos (sexting), Child-on-Child exploitation, upskirting, serious youth violence, sexual bullying or harmful sexual behaviour.

Appropriate relationships are reinforced throughout the range of Benhall's curricula. In particular, Benhall will implement an effective pastoral programme linked to the PSHE curriculum and will deliver age appropriate Relationships and Sex Education. Pastoral leads play a key role in supporting all children and identifying needs through Benhall's offer of Early Help.

All staff should be clear on Benhall's procedures with regards to Child on Child abuse and the important role they play in preventing it and responding where they believe a child may be at risk

from it. Any incidents of suspected Child on Child abuse will be managed under Benhall's behaviour policy – the full range of sanctions will be considered including referral to the Police.

Investigation of allegations or reported incidents will be undertaken by staff members delegated by the Head Teacher. Benhall does not tolerate or accept abusive behaviours in any form; no such behaviours will be considered as 'banter' or 'part of growing up'. Victims of Child on Child abuse will be supported by Benhall's pastoral leads in collaboration with other agencies as appropriate.

Child on Child Sexual violence and Sexual Harassment

KCSIE Part 5 provides detailed information on how to respond to reports of sexual violence and sexual harassment, including effective practice, how to assess risk, processes to follow and referrals to Children's Social Care and the Police. Staff should manage a report as per the effective safeguarding practice detailed in this policy, ideally with two members of staff present.

Where the report includes an online element, staff should be aware of <u>searching screening and</u> <u>confiscation advice for schools</u> and <u>UKCCIS sexting advice</u>. For guidance see the detailed advice in KCSIE 2023.

Honour Based Violence (HBV)

Female genital mutilation (FGM)

For the purpose of this policy, "female genital mutilation", commonly referred to as FGM, is defined as the partial or total removal of the external female genitalia, or any other injury to the female genital organs.

All staff will be alert to the possibility of a girl being at risk of FGM, or already having suffered FGM. If staff members are worried about someone who is at risk of FGM or who has been a victim of FGM, they are required to share this information with social care or the police.

Teachers are personally required to report to the police any discovery, whether through disclosure by the victim or visual evidence, of FGM on a girl under the age of 18. Teachers failing to report such cases will face disciplinary action. NB. The above does not apply to any suspected or at risk cases, nor if the individual is over the age of 18. In such cases, local safeguarding procedures will be followed.

There are a range of potential indicators that a pupil may be at risk of FGM. While individually they may not indicate risk, if two or more indicators are present, this could signal a risk to the pupil.

Victims of FGM are most likely to come from communities that are known to adopt this practice. It is important to note that the pupil may not yet be aware of the practice or that it may be conducted on them, so it is important for staff to be sensitive when broaching the subject. Indicators that may show a heightened risk of FGM include the following:

- The position of the family and their level of integration into UK society.
- Any girl with a mother or sister who has been subjected to FGM.
- Any girl withdrawn from personal, social and health education (PSHE).

Indicators that may show FGM could take place soon:

- The risk of FGM increases when a female family elder is visiting from a country of origin.
- A girl may confide that she is to have a 'special procedure' or a ceremony to 'become a woman'.
- A girl may request help from a teacher if she is aware or suspects that she is at immediate risk.
- A girl, or her family member, may talk about a long holiday to her country of origin or another country where the practice is prevalent. It is important that staff look for signs that FGM has already taken place so that help can be offered, enquiries can be made to protect others, and criminal investigations can begin. Indicators that FGM may have already taken place include the following:
- Difficulty walking, sitting or standing.
- Spending longer than normal in the bathroom or toilet.
- Spending long periods of time away from a classroom during the day with bladder or menstrual problems.
- Withdrawal from PE/games activities for several consecutive sessions.
- Prolonged or repeated absences from school followed by withdrawal or depression.
- Reluctance to undergo normal medical examinations.
- Asking for help, but not being explicit about the problem due to embarrassment or fear.
- Teachers will not examine pupils, and so it is rare that they will see any visual evidence, but they will report to the police where an act of FGM appears to have been carried out.
- Unless the teacher has a good reason not to, they should also consider and discuss any such case with the DSL and involve Children's Social Care as appropriate.
- FGM is also included in the definition of 'honour-based' violence (HBV), which involves crimes that have been committed to defend the honour of the family and/or community, alongside forced marriage and breast ironing.

All forms of HBV are forms of abuse, and will be treated and escalated as such. Staff will be alert to the signs of HBV, including concerns that a child is at risk of HBV, or has already suffered from HBV, and will activate local safeguarding procedures if concerns arise.

Forced Marriage

For the purpose of this policy, a "forced marriage" is defined as a marriage that is entered into without the full and free consent of one or both parties, and where violence, threats or any other form of coercion is used to cause a person to enter into the marriage. Forced marriage is classed as a crime in the UK.

As part of HBV, staff will be alert to the signs of forced marriage, including, but not limited to, the following:

- Becoming anxious, depressed and emotionally withdrawn with low self-esteem.
- Showing signs of mental health disorders and behaviours such as self-harm or anorexia.
- Displaying a sudden decline in their educational performance, aspirations or motivation.
- Regularly being absent from school.
- Displaying a decline in punctuality.
- An obvious family history of older siblings leaving education early and marrying early.

If staff members have any concerns regarding a child who may have undergone, is currently undergoing, or is at risk of, forced marriage, they will speak to the DSL and local safeguarding procedures will be followed.

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)

For the purpose of this policy, "child sexual exploitation" is defined as: a form of sexual abuse where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or young person into sexual activity, for either, or both, of the following reasons:

- In exchange for something the victim needs or wants.
- For the financial advantage or increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator.
- CSE does not always involve physical contact, as it can also occur online. It is also
 important to note that a child can be sexually exploited even if the sexual activity appears
 consensual.

Benhall Infant and Pre-School has adopted the following procedure for handling cases of CSE, as outlined by the DfE. School staff members are aware of and look for the key indicators of CSE; these are as follows:

- Going missing for periods of time or regularly going home late.
- Regularly missing lessons.
- Appearing with unexplained gifts and new possessions.
- Associating with other young people involved in exploitation.
- Having older boyfriends or girlfriends.
- Undergoing mood swings or drastic changes in emotional wellbeing.
- Displaying inappropriate sexualised behaviour.
- Suffering from sexually transmitted infections or becoming pregnant.
- Displaying changes in emotional wellbeing.
- Misusing drugs or alcohol.

Referring cases where CSE, or the risk of it, is suspected, staff will discuss the case with the DSL or the Deputy DSL. If after discussion a concern still remains, local safeguarding procedures will be triggered, including referral to the LA.

Child Criminal Exploitation – County Lines

For the purpose of this policy, "criminal exploitation of children" is a geographically widespread form of harm that is a typical feature of county lines criminal activity: drug networks or gangs groom and exploit children and young people to carry drugs and money from urban areas to suburban and rural areas, market and seaside towns.

Staff will be aware of a child missing episodes as a key indicator and that CEC

- can affect any child or young person (male or female) under the age of 18 years
- can still be exploitation even if the activity appears consensual
- can involve force and/or enticement-based methods of compliance and is often accompanied by violence or threats of violence
- can be perpetrated by individuals or groups, males or females, and young people or adults; and

• is typified by some form of power imbalance in favour of those perpetrating the exploitation. Whilst age may be the most obvious, this power imbalance can also be due to a range of other factors including gender, cognitive ability, physical strength, status, and access to economic or other resources.

If staff members have any concerns that a child is missing episodes of school or is at risk of criminal exploitation, they will speak to the DSL and safeguarding procedures will be triggered, including referral to the National Referral Mechanism if considered appropriate.

Preventing Radicalisation

Protecting children from the risk of radicalisation is part of Benhall's wider safeguarding duties. Benhall Infant School and Pre-School will actively assess the risk of pupils being drawn into terrorism. Staff will be alert to changes in pupils' behaviour which could indicate that they may be in need of help or protection.

Staff will use their professional judgement to identify pupils who may be at risk of radicalisation and act appropriately, which may include making a referral to the Channel programme. Benhall will work with the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Executive (GSCE) as appropriate.

Benhall will ensure that they engage with parents/carers and families, as they are in a key position to spot signs of radicalisation. In doing so, Benhall will assist and advise family members who raise concerns, and provide information for support mechanisms.

Any concerns over radicalisation will be discussed with a child's parents/carers, unless Benhall has reason to believe that the child would be placed at risk as a result.

Training

The DSL will undertake Prevent awareness training to be able to provide advice and support to other staff on how to protect children against the risk of radicalisation. The DSL will hold formal training sessions with all members of staff to ensure they are aware of the risk indicators and their duties regarding preventing radicalisation.

Risk indicators

Indicators of an identity crisis:

- Distancing themselves from their cultural/religious heritage
- Uncomfortable with their place in society

Indicators of a personal crisis:

- Family tensions
- A sense of isolation
- Low self-esteem
- Disassociation from existing friendship groups
- Searching for answers to questions about identify, faith and belonging

Indicators of vulnerability through personal circumstances:

- Migration
- Local community tensions
- Events affecting their country or region of origin

- Alienation from UK values
- A sense of grievance triggered by personal experience of racism or discrimination

Indicators of vulnerability through unmet aspirations:

- Perceptions of injustice
- Feelings of failure
- Rejection of civic life

Indicators of vulnerability through criminality:

- Experiences of dealing with the police
- Involvement with criminal groups

When making a judgement, staff will ask themselves the following questions:

- Does the pupil have access to extremist influences?
- Does the pupil access the internet for the purposes of extremist activities (e.g. using closed network groups, accessing or distributing extremist material, contacting covertly using zoom)?
- Is there a reason to believe that the pupil has been, or is likely to be, involved with extremist organisations?
- Is the pupil known to have possessed, or be actively seeking, extremist literature/other media likely to incite racial or religious hatred?
- Does the pupil sympathise with or support illegal/illicit groups? Does the pupil support groups with links to extremist activity?
- Has the pupil encountered Child, social, family or faith group rejection?
- Is there evidence of extremist ideological, political or religious influence on the pupil?
- Have international events in areas of conflict and civil unrest had a noticeable impact on the pupil?
- Has there been a significant shift in the pupil's outward appearance that suggests a new social, political or religious influence?
- Has the pupil come into conflict with family over religious beliefs, lifestyle or dress choices?
- Does the pupil vocally support terrorist attacks; either verbally or in their written work?
- Has the pupil witnessed or been the victim of racial or religious hate crime?
- Is there a pattern of regular or extended travel within the UK?
- Has the pupil travelled for extended periods of time to international locations?
- Has the pupil employed any methods to disguise their identity?
- Does the pupil have experience of poverty, disadvantage, discrimination or social exclusion?
- Does the pupil display a lack of affinity or understanding for others?
- Is the pupil the victim of social isolation?
- Does the pupil demonstrate a simplistic or flawed understanding of religion or politics?
- Is the pupil a foreign national or refugee, or awaiting a decision on their/their family's immigration status?
- Does the pupil have insecure, conflicted or absent family relationships?
- Has the pupil experienced any trauma in their lives, particularly trauma associated with war or sectarian conflict?

• Is there evidence that a significant adult or other person in the pupil's life has extremist views or sympathies?

Critical indicators include where the pupil is:

- In contact with extremist recruiters.
- Articulating support for extremist causes or leaders.
- Accessing extremist websites.
- Possessing extremist literature.
- Using extremist narratives and a global ideology to explain personal disadvantage.
- Justifying the use of violence to solve societal issues.
- · Joining extremist organisations.
- Making significant changes to their appearance and/or behaviour.

Any member of staff who identifies such concerns, as a result of observed behaviour or reports of conversations, will report these to the DSL.

The DSL will consider whether a situation may be so serious that an emergency response is required. In this situation, a 999 call will be made; however, concerns are most likely to require a police investigation as part of the Channel programme, in the first instance.

Channel programme

Safeguarding children is a key role for both Benhall and the LA, which is implemented through the use of the Channel programme. This service shall be used where a vulnerable pupil is at risk of being involved in terrorist activities.

In cases where Benhall believes a pupil is potentially at serious risk of being radicalised, the Head Teacher/DSL or Deputy DSL will contact the Channel programme. They will also support any staff making referrals to the Channel programme.

The Channel programme ensures that vulnerable children and adults of any faith, ethnicity or background, receive support before their vulnerabilities are exploited by those that would want them to embrace terrorism, and before they become involved in criminal terrorist-related activity. The programme identifies individuals at risk, assesses the extent of that risk, and develops the most appropriate support plan for the individuals concerned, with multi-agency cooperation and support from Benhall Infant and Pre-School.

The delivery of the Channel programme may often overlap with the implementation of the LA's or school's wider safeguarding duty, especially where vulnerabilities have been identified that require intervention from social care, or where the individual is already known to social care.

Extremist Speakers

When arranging a visiting speaker, the person arranging the visit will ensure they are aware of the content of the presentation so that no extremist material or views are promoted. Benhall will not let to any group that may promote extremist views.

Building Children's Resilience

Benhall Infant and Pre-School will:

Provide a safe environment for debating controversial issues.

- Promote fundamental British values, alongside pupils' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development.
- Allow pupils time to explore sensitive and controversial issues.
- Provide pupils with the knowledge and skills to understand and manage potentially difficult situations, recognise risk, make safe choices and recognise where pressure from others threatens their personal safety and wellbeing.
- Equip pupils to explore political and social issues critically, weigh evidence, debate, and make reasoned arguments.
- Teach pupils about how democracy, government and law making/enforcement occurs.
- Teach pupils about mutual respect and understanding for the diverse national, regional, religious and ethnic identities of the UK.

Resources

Benhall Infant and Pre-School is aware of a range of guidance and support mechanisms. The staff will utilise the following resources as required and in consultation with the DSL where appropriate.

- The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children's Partnership (GSCP)
- Local police (contacted via 101 for non-emergencies)
- The DfE's dedicated helpline (020 7340 7264)
- The Channel awareness programme
- The Educate Against Hate website

The Sexual Violence

Through training, all staff will be made aware of the indicators which may signal a pupil is at risk from, or is involved with, serious violent crime. These indicators include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Increased absence from school
- A change in friendships
- New relationships with older individuals or groups
- A significant decline in academic performance
- Signs of self-harm
- A significant change in wellbeing
- Signs of assault
- Unexplained injuries
- Unexplained gifts or new possessions

Some of the most significant risk factors that could increase a pupil's vulnerability to becoming involved in serious violent crime include:

- Gender (being male)
- Having experienced child maltreatment
- A history of committing offences
- Substance abuse
- Anti-social behaviour
- Truancy
- Child's involved in crime and/or anti-social behaviour

Staff members who suspect a pupil may be vulnerable to, or involved in, serious violent crime will immediately report their concerns to the DSL.

A Child Missing From Education (CME)

A child going missing from school is a potential indicator of abuse or neglect and, as such, these children are increasingly at risk of being victims of harm, exploitation or radicalisation. Benhall will ensure it has at least 2 emergency contact numbers for all pupils so that unauthorised absence can be checked in line with Benhall's registration procedure.

Staff will monitor pupils that go missing from Benhall, particularly on repeat occasions, and report them to the DSL following normal safeguarding procedures.

Benhall's attendance officer will ensure they are fully conversant with CME guidance and will keep the Headteacher informed on a daily basis with particular reference to any children who are identified as vulnerable through Benhall's vulnerable children monitoring system. Benhall Infant and Pre-School will work with the Education and Entitlement team to ensure effective attendance and uses the LA's Attendance Policy and CME guidance.

Domestic Abuse

"Domestic abuse...can [be] psychological, physical, sexual, financial or emotional. Children can be victims of domestic abuse. They may see, hear or experience the effects of abuse at home and/or suffer domestic abuse in their own intimate relationships (teenage relationship abuse). All of which can have a detrimental and long-term impact on their health, well-being, development, and ability to learn."

Benhall keeps a log of any reported incidents of domestic abuse relating to pupil's families. We have signed up to implement the principles and aims of the Gloucestershire Encompass Model. In signing up to Gloucestershire Encompass the Governing Body and Senior Leadership Team:

- Endorse the Gloucestershire Encompass Model and support the Key Adults in our school to fulfil the requirements of the Gloucestershire Encompass Protocol.
- Promote and implement Gloucestershire Encompass processes and use these in accordance with internal safeguarding children processes.
- Recognise the sensitive nature of the information provided and ensure that this is retained in accordance with the principles of data protection.

Transferring Information Between Schools

Where a pupil moves to a new school, Benhall will use the internet system to securely transfer pupils' data. The child will remain on roll until they are accepted by a receiving organisation. Benhall will hand over all child protection information to the receiving school within 5 days of that child joining the new school.

Pupils with Special Educational Needs (SEND)

Benhall recognises that pupils with SEND can face additional safeguarding challenges (including contextual abuse), and understands that further barriers may exist when determining abuse and neglect in this group of pupils.

Staff will be aware of the following:

- Certain indicators of abuse such as behaviour, mood and injury may relate to the pupil's disability without further exploration.
- Pupils with SEND can be disproportionally impacted by things like bullying, without outwardly showing any signs.
- Communication barriers may exist, as well as difficulties in overcoming these barriers.

When reporting concerns or making referrals for pupils with SEND, the above factors will always be taken into consideration.

If There Is A Concern About A Child's Mental Health

Mental health problems can, in some cases, be an indicator that a child has suffered or is at risk of suffering abuse, neglect or exploitation.

Staff will be alert to behavioural signs that suggest a child may be experiencing a mental health problem or be at risk of developing one.

If you have a mental health concern about a child that is also a safeguarding concern, take immediate action by following the steps on page 11 and 12.

If you have a mental health concern that is not also a safeguarding concern, speak to the DSL to agree a course of action.

See the Department for Education <u>guidance on mental health and behaviour in schools</u> for more information.

Early Help Assessment

Benhall maintains constant vigilance regarding the welfare of all pupils. Named staff members work in collaboration with the Headteacher to identify any concerns (see appendix 3.)

Children Who May Require Early Help

Low level concerns are any concerns (including allegations) which do not meet the harm threshold. They should be reported to the DSL/DDSL and records kept. Any reports will be considered by the DSL/DDSL and if appropriate, contact will be made with Benhall's Early Help Co-ordinator (EHCO) and/or further advice may be sort using Families First - Gloucestershire's programme of early help services for families.

A directory of early help services is available at https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/early-help-and-targeted-support/early-help-advice-guidance-and-support/ and will help practitioners and families find information and support to prevent escalation of needs and crisis.

All staff should be aware of the early help process, and understand their role in identifying emerging problems, sharing information with other professionals to support early identification and assessment of a child's needs. It is important for children to receive the right help at the right time to address risks and prevent issues escalating. This also includes staff monitoring the situation and feeding back to the Designated Safeguarding Lead any ongoing/escalating concerns so that consideration can be given to a referral to Children's Services (Safeguarding and Specialist Services) if the child's situation doesn't appear to be improving.

- Children identified as vulnerable are identified, monitored, supported and, where early help may be required for a family or child through a range of agencies (for example: housing, health, police, education) a Lead Practitioner will undertake an 'early help assessment'.
- Some children do not meet the threshold for referral to Social Care (see Gloucestershire's Levels of Intervention Guidance – Working Together to Safeguard and Promote the Welfare of Children) but may need significant welfare support. Benhall has effective and established systems in place for this process.

Staff and volunteers working within Benhall should be alert to the potential need for early help for children also who are more vulnerable. For example:

- Children with an impairment and/or specific additional needs.
- Children with special educational needs (with or without an EHCP).
- Children who are acting as a young carer.
- Children who are frequently missing or go missing from home or from care.
- Children who are showing signs of engaging in anti-social or criminal behaviour.
- Children whose family circumstances present challenges, such as substance abuse, adult mental health or learning disability, domestic violence.
- Children who are showing early signs of abuse and/or neglect.
- Children who have been returned home to their family from care.
- Children who have a parent in prison or recently returned from prison.

School staff members should be aware of the main categories of maltreatment: **physical abuse**, **emotional abuse**, **sexual abuse and neglect**. They should also be aware of the indicators of maltreatment and specific safeguarding issues so that they are able to identify cases of children who may be in need of help or protection.

The document <u>What to do if you're worried a child is being abused (Advice for Practitioners) March 2015</u> is available on line or in the staff room. See Appendix 2 for more detailed information on indicators of abuse and Appendix 1 for specific safeguarding issues that can be accessed through the GSCE website.

Internet Safety, Filtering and Monitoring

The DSL is responsible for ensuring Benhall has appropriate filtering and monitoring systems to ensure children cannot access inappropriate material at school. Parents will also be supported with advice on internet safety.

Benhall recognises the risk that pupils are exposed to inappropriate and potentially harmful material online. These can be classified into four areas:

Content – being exposed to illegal, inappropriate or harmful content, such as pornography, fake news, racism, misogyny, self-harm, suicide, antisemitism, radicalisation and extremism.

Contact – being subjected to harmful online interaction with other users, such as peer-to-peer pressure, commercial advertising and adults posing as children or young adults with the intention to groom or exploit them for sexual, criminal, financial or other purposes.

Conduct – personal online behaviour that increases the likelihood of, or causes, harm, such as making, sending and receiving explicit images (e.g. consensual and non-consensual sharing of nudes and seminudes and/or pornography), sharing other explicit images and online bullying.

Commerce – risks such as online gambling, inappropriate advertising, phishing and/or financial scams.

Benhall uses the Surf Protect Internet Security to filter online information coming into school. In addition, pupils are taught how to use the internet safely and what to do if they see something that makes them feel uncomfortable. Staff and pupils are required to agree to Benhall's acceptable use agreements and internet/e-safety rules.

Photography of Pupils

On entry to Benhall, parents/carers sign to agree the level of use of photography in their child's education at Benhall, in line with the requirements of GDPR. This list is updated by Benhall office team as required to maintain the safety and well-being of a child.

Safer Recruitment - See Separate Policy

Benhall Infant and Pre-School will ensure that all reasonable and practical measures are applied in ensuring that staff employed by Benhall, or engaged by Benhall (including volunteers), are suitably checked with appropriate rigour.

This vital process of developing a culture of safe recruitment is enabled by the following:

- 1. Safer recruitment guidance outlined in KCSIE is followed and applied fully by Benhall.
- 2. All interview panels have at least one Safer Recruitment trained member. Together, these enable Benhall to make appropriate decisions about the suitability of prospective employees based on checks and evidence including: criminal record checks (DBS), barred list checks and prohibition checks together with references for interviewing information. Any unsuitable behaviour will be reported using the Allegations Management Process.
- 3. Short-listed candidates are informed that online pre-recruitment checks may be carried out.
- 4. Benhall is vigilant in its application of the appropriate level of DBS check required and follows carefully the latest guidance contained within KCSIE, including carrying out a risk assessment to determine the appropriated level of check for adults volunteering in Benhall.
- 5. Benhall Infant and Pre-School works actively with the community to promote engagement from parents, carers, volunteers and makes use of the guidance to consider the level of DBS check required.
- 6. As much of the work undertaken by governors requires frequent, unsupervised and often 'regulated' activity, the Governing Body has decided that all Governors will complete Enhanced DBS checks including Barred List information.

Staff Trained for Safer Recruitment include Nicky Morris (Head), Rebecca Bilton (Deputy Head) and Laura Stevenson (Chair of Governors)

Visitors to School

All visitors to Benhall must sign in at reception demonstrating they are aware of Benhall's key safeguarding procedures and must wear a badge at all times.

Access levels will be determined on arrival based on their activity type with reference to the definitions of regulated and non-regulated activities and the guidance outlined in KCSIE.

Responsibilities

The role of the designated DSL/DDSLs is to ensure that this policy is upheld, child protection procedures are followed within Benhall and to make appropriate, timely referrals to children's

social care in accordance with the locally agreed procedures. Additionally, it is the role of the DSL/DDSLs to ensure all staff are made aware of Benhall's internal procedures, to advise and to offer support.

DSL Responsibilities also include:

- Referring a child if there are concerns about possible abuse, to MASH, and acting as a focal point for staff to discuss concerns. Referrals should be made through the LiquidLogic Children's Portal by completing the Multi Agency Referral Form (MARF).
- Keeping written records of concerns about a child, including low-level concerns, even if there is no need to make an immediate referral as an incident on CPOMS.
- Ensuring that all such records are kept confidentially and securely using CPOMS and are separate from pupil records, until the child's 25th birthday, and are passed on to the child's next school or college within 5 days of them starting the new setting.
- Ensuring that an indication of the existence of the additional file mentioned above is marked on the pupil records.
- Liaising with other agencies and professionals.
- Ensuring that either they or the staff member attend case conferences, core groups, or other multiagency planning meetings, contribute to assessments, and provide a report which has been shared with the parents.
- Ensuring they or the DDSL is always available (or arranging for the DSL at St Marks Junior School to act as DSL in their absence).
- Ensuring everyone is aware that children with behavioural difficulties or impairments are at increased risk of abuse and that children from ethnic minorities may also be more vulnerable and that there are systems in school for referring vulnerable children for support and on-going monitoring.
- Maintaining robust procedures that support the collection of information related to children on entry and effective communications are in place in Benhall.
- Liaise with the attendance officer as children with higher levels of absence may be more vulnerable.
- Ensuring that Looked After Children are supported by a named, Designated LAC trained member of staff. Our designated teacher for Looked After Children is our Inclusion Coordinator, Hazel Everett
- Notifying the relevant social worker if there is an unexplained absence of a pupil who has a Child Protection Plan or following 2 days unexplained absence for a child with a Child in Need Plan.
- Organising child protection on induction, annual updates and full training every 3 years, for all school staff and volunteers.
- Providing an annual report for the governing body, detailing any changes to the policy and procedures; training undertaken by the DSL, and by all staff and governors; number and type of incidents/cases, and number of children on the child protection register (anonymised).

Supporting Staff

All staff will receive a safeguarding induction within 7 days of employment. Through induction, all staff are aware of their role safeguarding children.

We recognise that staff working in Benhall who have become involved with a child who has suffered harm, or appears to be likely to suffer harm may find the situation stressful and upsetting.

We will support such staff by providing an opportunity to talk through their anxieties with the DSLs and to seek further support as appropriate.

To support staff, Benhall subscribes to the Employee Assistance Programme: a confidential 24/7 telephone counselling service available to all.

The Head, Deputy and SENCO receive regular reflective supervision with an Occupational health Counsellor, this fully supported by the Governors and funding is subsidised by the Cheltenham Learning Partnership. They in turn supervise the Deputy DSLs with responsibility for Pre-School and After School Club.

Allegations Against Staff – Supported by the LADO

An allegation is any information which indicates that a member of staff/volunteer/contractor may have:

- Behaved in a way that has, or may have harmed a child.
- Possibly committed a criminal offence against/related to a child.
- Behaved towards a child or children in a way which indicates s/he would pose a risk of harm if they work regularly or closely with children.

This applies to any child the member of staff/volunteer/contractor has contact within their personal, professional or community life.

Employers have a duty of care to their employees. The Governing Body seeks to provide effective support for anyone facing an allegation. It is essential that any allegation of abuse is dealt with quickly, in a fair and consistent way that provides effective protection for the child and at the same time supports the person who is the subject of the allegation.

These actions, in conjunction with support from the LADO and guidance from KCSIE, are implemented in pursuit of that outcome:

- Benhall Infant and Pre-School promotes a culture of on-going vigilance to ensure the safety
 of all and recognises its duty of care to children and to employees. Staff are aware of their
 duty to raise concerns about the attitude or actions of colleagues or others and to be
 mindful that 'it could happen here' (KCSIE).
- All school staff should take care not to place themselves in a vulnerable position with a child. It is always advisable for interviews or work with individual children or parents to be conducted in view of other adults.
- All Staff should be aware of GSCP Guidance on Behaviour Issues, and Benhall's own Behaviour policy.
- Guidance about conduct and safe practice, including safe use of mobile phones by staff and volunteers will be given at induction. All staff have signed the Acceptable Use Policy
- We understand that a pupil may make an allegation against a member of staff. If such an
 allegation is made, or information is received which suggests that a person may be
 unsuitable to work with children, the member of staff receiving the allegation or aware of
 the information, will immediately inform the Headteacher.

- The Headteacher on all such occasions will discuss the content of the allegation with the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO).
- If the allegation made to a member of staff concerns the Headteacher, the person receiving the allegation will immediately inform the Chair of Governors; who will consult as in above, without notifying the Headteacher first.
- Benhall will follow GSCE procedures for managing allegations against staff. Under no circumstances will we send a child home, pending such an investigation, unless this advice is given exceptionally, as a result of a consultation with the LADO.
- Suspension of the member of staff, excluding the Headteacher, against whom an allegation
 has been made, needs careful consideration, and the Headteacher will seek the advice of
 the LADO and a Human Resources Officer in making this decision.
- In the event of an allegation against the Headteacher, the decision to suspend will be made by the Chair of Governors with advice as above.
- We have a procedure for managing the suspension of a contract for a community user in the event of an allegation arising in that context.
- In the event of allegations of abuse being made against the Head Teacher where a staff member feels unable to raise an issue with their employer or feels that their genuine concerns are not being addressed, allegations should be reported directly to Nigel Hatten, the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO). Staff may consider discussing any concerns with the Deputy Designated Senior Person if appropriate and make any referral via them. (See Keeping Children Safe in Education: Part Four, for further information).
- The person to whom an allegation is first reported should take the matter seriously and keep an open mind. S/he should not investigate or ask leading questions if seeking clarification; it is important not to make assumptions. Confidentiality should not be promised and the person should be advised that the concern will be shared on a 'need to know' basis only. Actions to be taken include making an immediate written record of the allegation using the informant's words including time, date and place where the alleged incident took place, brief details of what happened, what was said and who was present. This record should be signed, dated and immediately passed on to the Head Teacher except in cases where the allegation regards the HT. In this instance, the information should be passed to the Chair of Governors.

In Gloucestershire the LADO is Nigel Hatten, supported by Tracy Brooks and Jenny Kadodia, the Allegations Management Co-Ordinators. They can be contacted on 01452 426 994 or nigel.hatten@gloucestershire.gov.uk and Tracy/Jenny can be contacted on 01452 426 320 or tracy.brooks@gloucestershire.gov.uk, jenny.kadodia@gloucestershire.gov.uk

For further information see: https://www.proceduresonline.com

Where a staff member feels unable to raise an issue with their employer/through the whistleblowing procedure or feels that their genuine concerns are not being addressed, other whistleblowing channels may be open to them:

- Ring the Practitioner Advice Line on 01452 426565 (Option 3) opening hours are 8am to 5pm, Monday to Friday) or email: childrenshelpdesk@gloucestershire.gov.uk.
- NSPCC whistleblowing helpline is available for staff who do not feel able to raise concerns regarding child protection failures internally. Staff can call: 0800 028 0285 – line is available from 8:00 AM to 8:00 PM, Monday to Friday and email: help@nspcc.org.uk

Whistle Blowing - See Policy

- 1. We recognise that children cannot be expected to raise concerns in an environment where staff fail to do so.
- All staff should be aware of their duty to raise concerns, where they exist, about the management of child protection, which may include the attitude or actions of colleagues. If it becomes necessary to consult outside Benhall, they should speak in the first instance, to the Area Education Officer/LADO following the Whistleblowing Policy.
- 3. Whistle-blowing re the Headteacher should be made to the Chair of the Governing Body whose contact details are readily available.

Physical Intervention – see Positive Handling Policy

- 1. We acknowledge that staff must only ever use physical intervention as a last resort, when a child is endangering him/herself or others, and that at all times it must be the minimal force necessary to prevent injury to another person.
- 2. Such events should be recorded and signed by a witness.
- 3. Staff who are likely to need to use physical intervention will be appropriately trained in the Team Teach Positive Handling technique.
- 4. We understand that physical intervention of a nature which causes injury or distress to a child may be considered under child protection or disciplinary procedures.
- 5. We recognise that touch is appropriate in the context or working with children, and all staff have been given 'Safe Practice' guidance to ensure they are clear about their professional boundary.

Anti-Bullying (including cyber-bullying) – see separate policy

Our school policy on anti-bullying is set out in a separate document and acknowledges that to allow or condone bullying may lead to consideration under child protection procedures. This includes all forms e.g. cyber, prejudice based and discriminatory bullying. We keep a record of known bullying incidents on CPOMS. All staff are aware that children with SEND and / or differences/perceived differences are more susceptible to being bullied and or victims of child abuse.

Racist Incidents

We acknowledge that repeated racist incidents or a single serious incident may lead to consideration under child protection procedures. We keep a record of racist incidents on CPOMS.

Prevention

We recognise that Benhall plays a significant part in the prevention of harm to our children by providing children with good lines of communication with trusted adults, supportive friends and an ethos of protection. Benhall community will therefore:

- 1. Work to establish and maintain an ethos where children feel secure and are encouraged to talk and are always listened to.
- 2. Include regular consultation with children e.g. through safety questionnaires, participation in anti-bullying themed events, asking children to report whether they have had happy/sad lunchtimes/playtimes.

Ensure that all children know there is an adult in Benhall whom they can approach if they are worried or in difficulty.

- 3. Include safeguarding across the curriculum, including PSHE, opportunities which equip children with the skills they need to stay safe from harm and to know to whom they should turn for help. In particular this will include anti-bullying work, safe relationships work, internet safety, road safety, and cycle training. Also focused work in Year 6 to prepare for transition to Secondary school and more personal safety/independent travel.
- 4. Ensure all staff are aware of school guidance for their use of mobile technology and have discussed safeguarding issues around the use of mobile technologies and their associated risks.
- 5. Be alert to any behaviours that could trigger concerns about a child's well-being with particular reference to FGM, CSE, CCE and Radicalisation

Health and Safety – See Separate Policy

Our Health & Safety policy, set out in a separate document, reflects the consideration we give to the protection of our children within Benhall environment, and for example in relation to internet use, and when away from Benhall and when undertaking school trips and visits.

Monitoring and Evaluation

Our Child Protection Policy and Procedures will be monitored and evaluated by:

- Governing Body visits to Benhall
- SLT 'drop ins' and discussions with children and staff
- Close vigilance of children who may be vulnerable
- Pupil surveys and questionnaires
- Monitoring of Attendance data
- monitoring of a range of risk assessments
- Monitoring of Governing Board minutes
- Logs of bullying/racist/behaviour incidents
- Review of parental concerns and parent questionnaires
- Safeguarding quizzes

Appendix 1 - Information and sources of support

In addition to information and sources of support identified on the GSCE website, school staff can access government guidance as required on the issues listed below via GOV.UK and other government websites:

The DSL has undertaken specific Home Office training in several of the areas outlined below and other staff have also undertaken enhanced training. All staff will have been given basic training in key areas such as: CSE, CCE, FGM, Forced Marriage and Preventing Radicalisation.

- Bullying, including cyberbullying, prejudice based and discriminatory bullying Children missing education – and Annex A
- Child missing from home or care
- Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE)
- Child sexual exploitation (CSE) and Annex A
- Domestic violence
- Drugs
- Fabricated or induced illness
- Faith abuse
- Female genital mutilation (FGM) and Annex A
- Forced marriage- and Annex A Gangs and youth violence
- Gender-based violence/violence against women and girls (VAWG)

In addition to non-statutory training.

- Hate
- Mental health
- Missing children and adults strategy
- Private fostering
- Preventing radicalisation and Annex A
- Relationship abuse
- Consensual or non-consensual sharing of nudes semi-nudes images and/or videos (sexting)
- Trafficking